THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals
[In The Supreme Court]

RECEIVED

JAN 31 2025

APPEAL FROM ABBEVILLE COUNTY
Frank R. Addy, Jr. Circuit Court Judge

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2024-001319

Nathanael Whitwood,

Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, TOWN OF DUE WEST,

Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Nathanael Whitwood, Appellant:
In care of:
5720 Hwy 184
Donalds, South Carolina
[postal code 29638]
T: (607) 281-9060

Matthew Wade Downtin, Attorney for Respondent.
P.O. Box 516
Greenwood, SC 29648

Mark Reynolds Farthing, Attorney for Respondent.
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211

ISSUES ON APPEAL.....2

STANDARD OF REVIEW3

ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Whether the State provided sufficient evidence that I was bound under the traffic code I was charged with, at the time of arrest.
2. Whether the trial judge acted as a fair and neutral party in the interest of upholding truth, justice and the law. And whether the trial judge acted as prosecutor in supporting and defending the arresting officer.
3. Whether my rights to due process were violated when the documents I filed into the court were ignored and not addressed by either the judge or the prosecution.
4. Whether I was or was not lawfully bound under the traffic code I was arrest and charged with.
5. Whether my 4th and/or 5th amendment rights were violated when I was arrested and forced to provided much personal information under threat, duress, and coercion against my will and over my objection.
6. Whether my personal liberties were violated when I was threatened with indefinite incarceration without being allowed to see a judge or make a phone call. Due to not being

willing to provide extensive personal information while under arrest. Much of which can or will be used against me.

7. Whether these codes can be applied to myself as a free man having caused no harm or damage to another person or property.
8. What evidence or proof must the prosecution provide in order to prove whether these codes can be constitutionally and legally applied to myself.
9. If I am indeed deemed to be bound under these codes; how then did it come to be that I am bound under these codes.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

I would seek that these matters are judged in accordance with the national constitution, the South Carolina state constitution, and natural and moral law in every way applicable. As well as any applicable laws which are wholly just and in accordance with the supreme law of the land.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Brief of Appellant, Nathanael Whitwood (Hereafter referred to as "I" or "Appellant" or "Myself"). To be presented to the South Carolina Court of Appeals in the interest of reversing the convictions against myself as they were a violation of my natural and constitutional rights. Then there were repeated violations of due process and court procedure committed in my case. To whom it may concern, I would ask to please bear with me as I am not a lawyer and have not

had any legal training. I have compiled my arguments to the best of my abilities with the time and resources available to me. And while I do believe I have done a reasonable job expressing and explaining my position, I know from experience that many wave me off as an ignorant 'sovereign citizen' with no standing. The court has my full assurance that I am not a part of or affiliated with any 'sovereign citizen' movement or organization. I am simply a man seeking to peacefully defend his rights from any and all imposing governmental overstep.

The original cause for this case was the Appellant being pulled over and arrested during the course of regular daily activities by DWPD Officer Gambrell. Appellant was charged with driving without driver license, no seatbelt, driving without insurance, driving unregistered vehicle. Appellant's stance is that these charges are unconstitutional and a violation of my natural personal rights in how they have been applied to myself in this case. When attempting to defend myself in court, the court process and due process was not upheld during this case. And My rights were further violated by the judge and the officer. During arrest my 4th and 5th amendment rights were violated, and I was repeatedly threatened by the officers. For these reasons I believe the appropriate course of action is to dismiss these charges against me in the interest of justice and freedom.

ARGUMENT

I believe that Judge Helen (Lisa) Philips, the DWPD, and other representatives of Due West and the Due West Court did error and violated due process in the preceding for this/these two cases. And that Judge Frank Addy of the circuit court did not rule in the interest of truth and justice. From the beginning, these cases have been a violation of my constitutional and natural rights. I

believe that the charges brought against me were faulty and illegitimate to begin with, however upon trying to show and prove this in court I was completely railroaded.

My right to be informed of the nature and cause of the accusation under the 6th amendment of the Constitution of the United States of America was violated as even upon repeated inquiry, Judge Philips either would not, or could not inform me of the nature and cause of the action brought against me. Nor was there any victim or contract brought forth to support the charges. Originally, I was not even informed whether I was under civil or criminal charges. After eventually being told I was under criminal charges, I was still not informed as to whether I was under Admiralty procedure or common law procedure. And was instead told I was under "traffic charges" which is not a legal jurisdiction prescribed by the constitution or any constitutionally valid law.

Furthermore, the prosecution did not present any evidence of a victim, damages, or contract violation. Without having any of these elements, how can any law or traffic code be constitutionally and morally legitimate? No sect of the American Government may just pass a code or statute criminalizing any action which has no negative inherent effect on another's person, property, or effects. Such law, code or statute would be a direct violation of the principles of natural law and morality which this country was built on. Were any branch of this government to be allowed to create such regulations, this country would quickly begin to slide downhill toward a condition we can see all over the world in many countries where freedom is not the priority of the government but is a mere inconvenience. Without having the information to understand the nature and cause of my case, I cannot be reasonably expected to effectively defend myself from this tyranny. And I believe this amounts to grounds enough to dismiss the charges as being not based in truth and justice but rather being an unlawful violation of my natural and constitutional rights.

Prior to trial I entered interrogatories and requests for production in my motion for discovery. However, I received no response to the items in the discovery by the prosecution. Nor did I receive any response to explain why the prosecution believed he did not have to provide any or all of the information. Judge Philips proceeded with trial against my will and over my objection. Without having any of the necessary information in my discovery I was not able to mount a credible defense. I do believe that all of the information in my discovery was indeed necessary for me to understand the nature and credibility of the charges brought against me. And also necessary in order for me to prove my legal and lawful standing in this case. Since the prosecution did not enter an objection to my discovery nor to the validity of each item, it must be held as valid, and the prosecution should have provided the information and evidence. Further, it seemed to me that the prosecuting officer was untrained in legal proceedings and should have had an attorney working for the prosecution if he did not understand the rules and procedures of a legal proceeding. Without the court being able to follow the proper rules, the charges against me must be dismissed under faulty or illegitimate court procedure.

As mentioned prior, I was forced to trial without discovery and without necessary information from the judge. Such incident is grounds enough to declare a mistrial as there is no way I can be expected to defend myself when I am not allowed to exercise my constitutional rights to a fair and equal trial following the rules of court. And had I been able to gather the information I sought, I do believe that I would have been able to make it clear to the court that these charges against me were completely illegitimate in how they have been applied to me in this situation.

Among the documents filed with the court, I entered a notarized Affidavit of Self stating and describing my condition and standing. Stating that in no way am I contracted with or a part of the United States corporation. I had not expressed nor implied any agreements or obligations to any corporation including the U.S. I am a free man living on the land of the South Carolina State on the United States of America. And I cannot be compelled or coerced into a state of subjectivity on the mere whims of politicians and police. Such would be an immense violation of the foundations of this country and natural law which are supposed to separate us from the corrupt and unjust countries of the world.

This affidavit was neither addressed nor refuted by the prosecution, it is a maxim of law that an affidavit unrefuted must be held as truth. Not once would the prosecution address any matter contained in the affidavit. But instead had his mind made up that I was a guilty criminal and would not do his part in seeking truth and justice. I believe this to be in part due to the fact that the officer was not trained and educated in legal proceeding, and should have been represented by an attorney. Had the officer and the judge been acting in the interest of truth and justice these documents would have been read and understood. Which I do believe would have led to an outcome in favor of myself and this country. However, it does not matter what the reason is. The fact of the matter is that my natural and constitutional rights were violated by both the charges brought against me and the court proceeding to find me guilty. And these charges must be reversed or dropped altogether and the fines dismissed and repaid in the interest of freedom and justice.

I believe there was a distinct lack of personal and subject matter jurisdiction over myself and my matters in these actions. Given that I did not at any time cause harm to any individual or

property, nor did I violate any contract, as there was no contract or agreement between myself and any governmental or corporate entity as I have previously attested to. And, had such damages or contractual violation occurred, it would have been the responsibility of the prosecution to prove these elements. As stated previously the prosecution failed to do so. It was stated by the judge that my location upon the land is the only factor necessary for the court to possess jurisdiction over my daily activities. I do believe that, as reasoned above, the governments in this country cannot criminalize regular activities without meeting certain requirements proving that one has caused damage to society. If the documents and material I entered into the court had been read and understood, that would have become clear and understood by the judge. And I believe that the outcome of my case would have been drastically altered had the judge and prosecution been diligent and thorough in their duties.

During arrest, my fingerprints, picture and likeness, and much personal information were taken from me against my will, over my objection, and under duress. I was being threatened repeatedly with indefinite incarceration, without being allowed to see a judge or contact anyone unless this personal property and information was taken from me. Further, I was repeatedly denied the ability to write a writ of habeas corpus while being held prisoner. Fear of the corruption of the police and jail system are the only reasons that this personal property and information were able to be taken from me with compliance, under fear of threat against my permanent well-being. And I believe that this constitutes an egregious violation of due process.

Within the paperwork I filed with the court, there were many examples of case law, definitions, and citations which I believe to be strongly in support of my legal position. Not one of them was acknowledged nor disproven by either the judge or the prosecution. At the same time, the prosecution did not enter any legal arguments, case law, or citations in support of the validity of the charges. Instead, the prosecution attested only to what he saw and did, while the judge acted as prosecutor instead of the neutral party. Judge Phillips, while arguing for the prosecution, also did not offer any case law or legal citations. But instead argued just from how she understood the laws to be. Which violated her position of office, and it can be reasonably argued that she was practicing law from the bench.

While my argument here rests mainly on truth, logic, and morality. The case law and legal citations contained in the memorandum of law I filed in the original trial support my position in this appeal as my arguments in the case were based jurisdiction and the cause of action, not on the nature of the action. And will be included in the record on appeal.