RECEIVED

Feb 27 2025

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ABBEVILLE COUNTY
In the Court of Common Pleas
Frank R. Addy, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Municipal Court Uniform Traffic Ticket Nos. 8102P0992351, 8102P0992352,
8102P0992353, 8102P0992197, 8102P0992198, 8102P0992199, & 8102P0992200

Intermediate Appellate Case Nos. 2024-CP-01-080 & 2024-CP-01-081

Appellate Case No. 2024-001319

NATHANAEL WHITWOOD,.....APPELLANT,

v.

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, TOWN OF DUE WEST,.....RESPONDENT.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

J. BENJAMIN APLIN
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 8729

Post Office Box 11549

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

Each of these statutes is reasonably related to the promotion of highway safety. As such, they are legitimate exercises of the State's police powers in regulating public safety and welfare

of the roadways. Furthermore, the public purpose of ensuring overall safety for the public outweighs any legitimate interest, if any, of Appellant's unfettered right to travel on public roadways. *See, e.g., Curtis v. State*, 345 S.C. 557, 573, 549 S.E.2d 591, 599 (2001) (holding section 16-13-470 of the South Carolina Code was a legitimate exercise of the State's police powers in regulating public safety and welfare in the workplace and outweighed Curtis's interest in doing business).

Here, as correctly found by the circuit court, the municipal court clearly had subject matter jurisdiction over the seven criminal charges brought against Appellant by the DWPD, all of which were lawfully enacted by our legislature under its constitutionally reserved police powers. This Court should therefore affirm the decision of the circuit court finding subject matter jurisdiction and affirming Appellant's convictions and sentences.

II.

Appellant's argument that the circuit court erred in refusing to reverse his convictions on grounds that the trial court lacked personal jurisdiction over him is not preserved for appellate review because it was neither raised to nor ruled upon by the trial court during the bench trial. Furthermore, even if arguably raised and rejected, any personal jurisdiction claims were waived because Appellant advised the trial court he was "not disputing the action (of the tickets)" at the first proceeding and "would not dispute the charges" at the second proceeding. In any event, and as correctly found by the circuit court, the trial court clearly had personal jurisdiction over Appellant because he was lawfully arrested and then appeared in municipal court to dispute the criminal charges. (Appellant's Issues 7 & 9).

Appellant argues the Circuit Court should have reversed his convictions because: "there was a distinct lack of personal . . . jurisdiction over myself . . . in these actions." He contends that because he did not cause direct harm to any individuals or property and did not violate any contract between himself and any government or corporate entity, the trial court lacked personal

jurisdiction over him. (Brief of Appellant, p.7-p.8). The State disagrees and submits that where Appellant failed to make a specific objection to personal jurisdiction when he appeared before the trial court, the issue is unpreserved for appeal and should be dismissed by this court. Furthermore, any objection that may have initially been raised was waived by Appellant during the trial court proceedings. Finally, under clearly established precedent, the Due West municipal court had personal jurisdiction over Appellant in regard to the seven criminal charges levied against him where he was validly arrested by the DWPD and then repeatedly appeared in municipal court to dispute those criminal charges.

Issue Preservation

“In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge. Issues not raised and ruled upon in the trial court will not be considered on appeal.” *State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693 (2003). An issue that was not preserved for review should not be addressed by the appellate court. *Id.* Here, Appellant failed to appropriately address the issue of personal jurisdiction when he actually appeared before the trial court through objection, arguing a lack of personal jurisdiction, or moving for dismissal of the charges on this ground. Indeed, at each proceeding, Appellant simply stated he was not disputing the action or the charges, and then exclusively complained about the State’s response to his discovery. The trial court consequently proceeded with a bench trial and did not make any ruling in regard to his personal jurisdiction claim. Appellant also did not file any post-trial motions for the trial court to make such a ruling. Because no personal jurisdiction issue is preserved for appellate review and was effectively waived by Appellant, this Court should simply affirm the ruling of the circuit court and decline to address the alleged lack of personal jurisdiction. Furthermore, this issue is not identified or ruled upon in the trial court’s

written return, which similarly renders it unpreserved for review. Finally, even if these claims had been preserved for review, they are without merit because Appellant was validly arrested and appeared in court to dispute the charges.

Discussion / Analysis

It is generally recognized that jurisdiction over the person in a criminal case lies in the state or county where the crime was committed. *State v. Crocker*, 366 S.C. 394, 402, 621 S.E.2d 890, 894–95 (Ct. App. 2005) (quoting 4 Wayne R. LaFave et al., *Criminal Procedure* § 16.4(c) (2d ed. 1999)). Generally, jurisdiction of the person is acquired when the party charged is arrested or voluntarily appears in court and submits himself to its jurisdiction. *State v. Dudley*, 354 S.C. 514, 542, 581 S.E.2d 171, 186 (Ct. App. 2003), *aff'd as modified*, 364 S.C. 578, 614 S.E.2d 623 (2005); *State v. Douglas*, 245 S.C. 83, 138 S.E.2d 845 (1964). A defendant may waive any complaints he may have regarding personal jurisdiction by failing to object to the lack of personal jurisdiction and by appearing to defend his case. *Dudley*, 354 S.C. at 542, 581 S.E.2d at 186; *See State v. Bethea*, 88 S.C. 515, 70 S.E. 11 (1911); *see also State v. Castleman*, 219 S.C. 136, 138–39, 64 S.E.2d 250, 251 (1951) (“A defendant may, of course, waive his objection to the jurisdiction of the Court over his person....”); *Town of Ridgeland v. Gens*, 83 S.C. 562, 65 S.E. 828 (1909) (the court found no personal jurisdiction problem where the defendant appeared for his trial, was represented by an attorney, and defended his case on the merits).

In Appellant’s case, where he was validly arrested by the DWPD and then repeatedly appeared in court to dispute the two sets of criminal charges, jurisdiction over his person was acquired. For all of these reasons, this Court should affirm the holding of the circuit court finding personal jurisdiction and affirming Appellant’s convictions and sentences.

III.

Appellant's argument that the circuit court erred in failing to reverse his convictions on grounds that the trial judge, rather than acting as a fair and neutral party, acted as prosecutor in supporting and defending the arresting officer, is not preserved for appellate review because this argument was neither raised to nor ruled upon by the circuit court during the bench trial. Furthermore, even if arguably raised and rejected, any claims of bias were waived because Appellant advised the trial court he was "not disputing the action (of the tickets)" at the first proceeding and "would not dispute the charges" at the second proceeding. Even if preserved, the circuit court properly affirmed the convictions on appeal where Appellant failed to demonstrate any bias or prejudice from the trial court's actions (Appellant's Issue 2).

Appellant claims the circuit court erred in failing to reverse his convictions on grounds that the trial judge "violated her position of office" by acting not "as a fair and neutral party in the interest of upholding truth, justice, and the law," and instead acting "as a prosecutor in supporting and defending the arresting officer." (Brief of Appellant, p.2; p.9). The State disagrees and submits Appellant's argument challenging the trial judge's impartiality should be denied and dismissed for a number of reasons.

Issue Preservation

First, Appellant failed to preserve this argument for appellate review because he does not appear to have articulated any specific challenge to the trial judge's impartiality to the trial court when he actually appeared before Judge Phillips, through objection or moving for recusal. Indeed, the returns filed by Judge Phillips fail to reflect any such claims. They instead show that when the trial court asked Appellant how he wanted to plead at the first proceeding, Appellant "went on for a while, but stated he's not disputing the action (of the tickets)." When the trial court asked Appellant how he wanted to plead at the second proceeding, Appellant claimed he would not enter a plea but also said he "would not dispute the charges." The trial court consequently proceeded to a bench trial and did not make any ruling in regard to any suggestion

of bias or violating the judge's position of office. Nothing in the returns suggests Appellant objected to Judge Phillips questions or procedures, or that he challenged her impartiality on the record. Appellant also did not file any post-trial motions for the trial court to make such a ruling. Because the alleged bias issue is not preserved for appellate review and was effectively waived by Appellant, this Court should simply affirm the ruling of the circuit court and decline to address the alleged partiality of the trial judge. *Dunbar*, 356 S.C. at 142, 587 S.E.2d at 693. In any event, even if this issue was arguably preserved, it is entirely without merit because Appellant failed to demonstrate any actual bias or prejudice from the trial court in how his charges were handled at the trial court proceeding.

Discussion / Analysis

Appellant complains the officer handling the prosecution did not enter any legal argument, case law, or citation in support of the validity of the charges and instead attested only to what he saw and did. He then argues Judge Phillips "acted as a prosecutor instead of the neutral party." Appellant complains Judge Phillips, while arguing for the prosecution, did not offer any case law or legal citations, but instead argued "just from how she understood the law to be." (Brief of Appellant, p.9).

Appellant appears to allege prejudice simply from the manner in which the trial court allowed the officer to present the State's case in support of the traffic violations. Appellant cites no authority for such a proposition, thus this issue should be deemed abandoned and should not be considered by this court. *Bryson v. Bryson*, 378 S.C. 502, 510, 662 S.E.2d 611, 615 (Ct. App. 2008) ("It is a well-established precedent in this State that when a party's brief fails to set forth a substantive legal argument for an issue or provide supporting citations to authority supporting a proposition, such issue is considered to be abandoned on appeal by the appellate courts. "An

issue is deemed abandoned and will not be considered on appeal if the argument is raised in a brief but not supported by authority.”). Even if not abandoned, the argument is without merit.

Judge Phillips did not commit reversible error in accepting Appellant’s decision not to contest the charges and then allowing testimony from the officer followed by cross-examination by Appellant. This is because judges are permitted broad judicial discretion in the conduct of a criminal trial, *State v. Collier*, 421 S.C. 426, 435, 807 S.E.2d 206, 211 (Ct. App. 2017) (noting the conduct of a criminal trial is left largely to the sound discretion of the trial judge, who will not be reversed in the absence of a prejudicial abuse of discretion), and because the judge’s choice of procedure did not violate the South Carolina Judicial Canons. “A judge must exercise sound judicial discretion in determining whether his impartiality might reasonably be questioned.” *State v. Cheatham*, 349 S.C. 101, 111, 561 S.E.2d 618, 624 (Ct. App.2002). “Under Canon 3(E)(1)(a) [of Rule 501, SCACR], a judge should disqualify himself in a proceeding in which his impartiality might reasonably be questioned, including but not limited to, instances where he has a personal bias or prejudice against a party.” *Patel v. Patel*, 359 S.C. 515, 524, 599 S.E.2d 114, 118 (2004). “. . . [T]he South Carolina Supreme Court has stated that the movant or petitioner must show some evidence of the bias or prejudice of the judge.” *Simpson v. Simpson*, 377 S.C. 519, 524, 660 S.E.2d 274, 277 (Ct. App. 2008). “Absent evidence of judicial prejudice, a judge's failure to disqualify himself will not be reversed on appeal.” *State v. Howard*, 384 S.C. 212, 217, 682 S.E.2d 42, 45 (Ct. App. 2009). “It is not enough for a party seeking disqualification to simply allege bias. The party must show some evidence of bias.” *Id. Patel v. Patel*, 359 S.C. 515, 524, 599 S.E.2d 114, 118 (2004); *Mallett v. Mallett*, 323 S.C. 141, 473 S.E.2d 804 (Ct. App.1996). “Furthermore, the alleged bias must be personal, as distinguished from judicial, in nature.” *State v. Howard*, 384 S.C. 212, 217, 682 S.E.2d 42, 45 (Ct. App. 2009).

The fact that a judge ultimately rules against a litigant is not proof of prejudice by the judge, even if it is later held the judge committed error in his rulings. *Srivastava v. Srivastava*, 411 S.C. 481, 500, 769 S.E.2d 442, 452–53 (Ct. App. 2015); *Reading v. Ball*, 291 S.C. 492, 495, 354 S.E.2d 397, 399 (Ct. App.1987).

Judges are permitted broad discretion in the conduct of a criminal proceeding, particularly where a defendant does not dispute the facts behind the underlying charges. In the instant case, Appellant alleges prejudice by the court for failing to act as a fair and neutral party. However, Appellant fails to specify or demonstrate any prejudice or bias by the trial court, other than the fact that he was found guilty of the crimes. The trial court judge was within her rights to handle the proceeding as she did, and the court's actions are not reversible error. This court should affirm Appellant's convictions and the findings of the courts below.

IV.

Appellant's argument that that the circuit court erred in refusing to reverse his convictions on grounds that the trial court violated his right to due process by: (1) failing to inform him of the nature and cause of the charges against him; (2) allowing him to be "railroaded" by the Due West Police Department and other representatives of the town of Due West where the prosecution did not present any evidence of a victim, damages, or a contract violation; (3) failing to require the State to directly address or refute his Affidavit of Denial of Corporate Existence; and (4) taking his fingerprints, picture and likeness, and personal information against his will, over his objection, and under duress, is not preserved for appellate review because neither a general due process challenge nor any of the sub-arguments described were ever raised to or ruled upon by the trial court during the bench trial. Furthermore, even if arguably raised and rejected prior to his trial, any due process claims were waived because Appellant advised the trial court he was "not disputing the action (of the tickets)" at the first proceeding and "would not dispute the charges" at the second proceeding. Finally, the circuit court properly concluded Appellant was provided due process by the trial court in all respects. (Appellant's Issues 1 & 8).

Appellant claims the circuit court erred in failing to reverse his conviction on grounds that the trial court violated his right to due process in various respects. Specifically, he claims the trial court failed to provide due process by: (1) failing to inform him of the nature and cause of the charges against him; (2) allowing him to be "railroaded" by the Due West Police Department and other representatives of the town of Due West where the prosecution did not present any evidence of a victim, damages, or a contract violation; (3) failing to require the State to directly address or refute his Affidavit of Denial of Corporate Existence; and (4) taking his fingerprints, picture and likeness, and personal information against his will, over his objection, and under duress. He argues these due process violations amounted "to grounds enough to dismiss the charges as being not based in truth and justice but rather being an unlawful violation of my natural and constitutional rights." (Brief of Appellant, p.3-p.7). The State disagrees and

submits Appellant's due process argument should be denied and dismissed for a number of reasons.

Issue Preservation

First, Appellant failed to preserve this argument for appellate review because he does not appear to have articulated any specific due process arguments to the trial court when he actually appeared before the trial court through objection, arguing any due process violations, or moving for dismissal of the charges on this ground. Instead, when the trial court asked Appellant how he wanted to plead at the first proceeding, Appellant "went on for a while, but stated he's not disputing the action (of the tickets)." When the trial court asked Appellant how he wanted to plead at the second proceeding, Appellant claimed he would not enter a plea but also said he "would not dispute the charges." The trial court consequently proceeded with a bench trial and did not make any ruling in regard to his assorted due process claims. Appellant also did not file any post-trial motions for the trial court to make such a ruling. Because no due process issue is preserved for appellate review and was effectively waived by Appellant, this Court should simply affirm the ruling of the circuit court and decline to address the alleged violation of due process. In any event, even if this issue was arguably preserved, it is entirely without merit because Appellant was provided due process by the trial court.

Discussion / Analysis

All of Appellant's alleged due process violations seem to stem from the sometimes incoherent but overarching beliefs set forth in the various "discovery" documents he provided to the circuit court during his arguments in the intermediate appeal. These included: (1) an "[A]ffidavit of Nathanael Whitwood," a "Notice to Abate," a "Memorandum of Law, in Support of Notice to Abate," and a "Motion for Discovery: Request for Production, Interrogatories." In

these documents, Appellant makes assertions declaring he is a “live Man and californian Exempt,” and denying his “Corporation Existence,” and he contends he is not subject to the criminal laws for which he was arrested because he: (1) “has no contract with the State or Federal governments,” (2) “has not willingly opted into the governments Social Security Number,” (3) has “signed no International Maritime Agreement . . . which would give Admiralty or Vice Admiralty jurisdiction to the Courts,” and (4) “has never applied for Bankruptcy and never given his permission . . . for participation in any bankruptcy scheme.” (See Affidavit of Nathanael Whitwood). Appellant further asserts due process required that he be furnished with a “verified complaint of injury,” and that without such complaint he could not determine the nature of the offenses for which he was charged. He contends the traffic tickets he was issued failed to meet these requirements for an “accusatory pleading,” leaving the municipal court with no subject matter jurisdiction and requiring that the entire proceeding “be abated or dismissed.” (Notice to Abate).

Appellant then centers his challenge on his “constitutional Right to free travel upon the public roads of a South Carolina Citizen.” His lengthy manifesto, which includes sections titled: “RIGHTS,” “DEFINITIONS,” and “CONCLUSION”, boils down to an argument that: (1) because he has a fundamental, constitutional “Citizen’s Right to travel and use the public highways in the ordinary course of life and business,” and (2) because he was not using the public highways for private gain, to conduct business, or for commercial purposes, then neither (1) the “Police Powers” reserved to the States in the United States Constitution, nor (2) “Public Policy,” permit the State or the Town of Due West to encroach upon the right to travel by enacting laws that impose licensing, registration, and insurance requirements on drivers, without their consent. Appellant claims there is no threatened danger in an individual using his

automobile on a public highway in the ordinary course of business because “there is nothing inherently dangerous in the use of an autotmobile when it is carefully managed,” and he claims the regulations at issue are not reasonable because they are “oppressive and could be effectively administered by less oppressive means.” He contends that, “unless or until harm or damage (a Crime) is committed, there is no cause for interference in the private affairs or actions of a Citizen.” Appellant claims the real purpose of licensing requirements are insidious efforts to force citizens to surrender their rights and “consent to be prosecuted for constructive crimes and quasi-criminal actions where there is no harm done and no damaged property.” He suggests the State is unconstitutionally: (1) converting the right to travel into a crime, and (2) granting a “Title of Nobility” to drivers who have obtained a driver’s license. As noted above, Appellant ultimately concludes his manifesto by arguing the seat belt, licensing, registration, and insurance requirements he was charged with violating all constitute “stealthy encroachments” to exploit a “heretofore untapped source of revenue” in a way that infringes upon his fundamental and basic constitutional right to travel. (Memorandum of Law, in Support of Notice to Abate).

Due Process

Due Process is not a technical concept with fixed parameters unrelated to time, place, and circumstances; rather, it is a flexible concept that calls for such procedural protections as the situation demands. *State v. Legg*, 416 S.C. 9, 13, 785 S.E.2d 369, 371 (2016) (citing *Mathews v. Eldridge*, 424 U.S. 319, 334 (1976)). Procedural Due Process contemplates a fair hearing before a legally constituted impartial tribunal. *Id.* (citing *Daniels v. Williams*, 474 U.S. 327, 337 (1986) (“[A] guarantee of fair procedure, sometimes referred to as ‘procedural due process’: the State may not execute, imprison, or fine a defendant without giving him a fair trial” (footnoted citation omitted); *Vitek v. Jones*, 445 U.S. 480, 500 (1980); and *State v. Houey*, 375 S.C. 106, 113, 651

S.E.2d 314, 318 (2007)). Thus, procedural due process requires notice, the opportunity to be heard in a meaningful way, and judicial review. *Blanton v. Stathos*, 351 S.C. 534, 542, 570 S.E.2d 565, 569 (Ct. App. 2002) (citing *Grannis v. Ordean*, 234 U.S. 385 (1914)).

Here, Appellante was given written notice of each charge, the statute relied upon supporting such charge, and the date and time of his municipal court trial. (UTT Nos. 8102P0992351, 8102P0992352, 8102P0992353, 8102P0992197, 8102P0992198, 8102P0992199, and 8102P0992200). At that bench trial, Appellant was given the opportunity to be heard in a meaningful way, which included being given the opportunity to question the arresting officers about the circumstances of the arrests. He has further been given the opportunity for judicial review of the trial court's actions by the circuit court—an opportunity he took full advantage of at the July 30, 2024, hearing before Judge Addy, where the circuit court reviewed not only the municipal judge's return, but also *all* filings Appellant said he submitted prior to the proceedings in the trial court—determining none of those filings or Appellant's arguments had any legal basis and were “not supported by the law.” (Order filed July 30, 2024). Consequently, Appellant was provided all procedural safeguards he was due. For all of these reasons, this court should affirm the findings and judgment of the courts below.

V.

Appellant’s argument that the circuit court erred in refusing to reverse his convictions on grounds that the trial court should have granted a mistrial due to alleged discovery violations is not preserved for appellate review because any discovery violation claims were waived where Appellant advised the trial court he was “not disputing the action (of the tickets)” at the first proceeding and “would not dispute the charges” at the second proceeding. Furthermore, the trial court properly concluded Appellant failed to show the existence of any discovery violation because no evidence favorable to Appellant was either suppressed by the State or was material to his guilt or innocence or was impeaching. (Appellant’s Issue 3).

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